Public Document Pack



NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL - EQUALITIES WITHIN THE COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT PROCESS

Date: Friday, 19 December 2014

Time: 10.00 am

Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham,

NG2 3NG

Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following business

Acting Corporate Director for Resources

Senior Governance Officer: Rav Kalsi Direct Dial: 0115 8763759

AGENDA Pages

- 1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
- 2 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
- 3 SCRUTINY REVIEW OF EQUALITIES WITHIN THE COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT PROCESS
- a REVIEW SCOPE AND BRIEFING PAPER 3 40
- **b** ROUND TABLE DISCUSSION
- 4 PANEL CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES

CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL'S POLICY ON RECORDING AND REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN ADVANCE.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL – EQUALITIES WITHIN THE COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT PROCESS

19 DECEMBER 2014

TO EXPLORE HOW THE COUNCIL CAN PROMOTE EQUALITIES THROUGH ITS PROCUREMENT AND COMMISSIONING POLICY AND PRACTICES

REPORT OF HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

1. Purpose

To carry out a review on what action the Council is taking in relation to:

- (1) promoting equalities through the Council's procurement and commissioning policy;
- (2) what extent equalities principles are embedded in the Council's commissioning and procurement processes.

2. Action required

The Committee is asked to:

- (1) approve the scope attached at Appendix A;
- (2) invite participation from colleagues from Commissioning and Procurement to outline the Council's Commissioning and Procurement framework;
- (3) invite participation from the Equality and Fairness Commission as contributors to the review;
- (4) ask members of the Review Panel to highlight pertinent points and outcomes from the discussion;
- (5) establish a date for a second review to address the pertinent points raised in the discussion.

3. Background information

3.1 Under the general equality duty (as set out in the Equality Act 2010), public authorities are required to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation as well as the advancement of equality principles. The protected grounds covered by the equality duty are: age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, and sexual orientation. The equality duty also covers marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of eliminating unlawful discrimination.

Nottingham City Council Scrutiny Review Panel 19 December 2014

- 3.2 The law requires that this duty to have due regard be demonstrated in the decision making process and the assessment of the potential impact on equality of proposed changes to policies is one of the key ways in which local authorities can demonstrate that they have had due regard to the aims of the equality duty.
- 3.3 This topic was proposed by the Equality and Fairness Commission (EFC) at the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) held on 5 February 2014 and a protocol was subsequently agreed between the EFC and OSC for referring potential review topics and for sharing information. The EFC asked Overview and Scrutiny to support the work of the EFC by helping to advance equality and fairness through key policy areas that have potential to contribute significantly to advancing equality in the City, such as Commissioning and Procurement; the City's Growth Plan; and the City's Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
- 3.4 It was agreed that the issues raised by the EFC on equality issues relating to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy could be addressed through the existing work of the Health Scrutiny Panel; and there would be opportunity to consider good growth when the Committee carries out its annual scrutiny of progress of the Nottingham Plan. A specific review of commissioning and procurement as a way of promoting equality will be carried out with tight focus.
- 3.5 This review is to look at how equality and fairness can be advanced through key policy areas such as Commissioning and Procurement.
- 3.6 The EFC suggested that by incorporating measurable equality outcomes in contracts it is possible to promote benefits such as community cohesion, and initiatives involving targeted recruitment to support disabled people into the workplace.
- 3.7 Participation is invited by the representatives of the EFC as contributors to the review, however, decisions relating to the scope, findings and recommendations will be solely within the remit of the scrutiny review panel itself (as previously agreed in the protocol between the EFC and Overview and Scrutiny Committee).

4. <u>List of attached information</u>

4.1 Desktop research by the appropriate Scrutiny Officer has focussed on providing members of the Panel with sufficient evidence to challenge whether equality principles are embedded within the local authority's commissioning and procurement processes. Reference is made to Nottingham City Council's existing Equality and Diversity policy (Appendix C) which emphasises the importance of the Council utilising its influence and purchasing power to help make equality a reality for all of its citizens.

Nottingham City Council Scrutiny Review Panel 19 December 2014

- 4.2 Attached at Appendix B is a guide for public authorities in England for mainstreaming equality considerations within the procurement and commissioning process with the aim of using purchasing power as a way to advance equality, and where appropriate, achieve wider social benefits, such as training or employment opportunities.
- 4.3 Appendix A scope for approval
 Appendix B Buying Better Outcomes mainstreaming equality
 considerations in procurement, Equality and Human Rights Commission
 Appendix C Nottingham City Council's Equality and Diversity policy

5. <u>Background papers, other than published works or those disclosing exempt or confidential information</u>

None

6. Published documents referred to in compiling this report

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting papers 5 February 2014 http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=230&Mld=3487

7. Wards affected

ΑII

8. Contact information

Rav Kalsi Senior Governance Officer Loxley House Station Street Nottingham NG2 3NG

Tel: 0115 8763759

Email: rav.kalsi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk



SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL SCOPE Promoting equalities through the Council's Procurement and Commissioning Policy and Practices

What is the broad remit set for the review?

How can equalities be promoted through the Council's Commissioning and Procurement Policy?

What is the specific focus for the review?

To what extent are equalities principles embedded in the Council's commissioning and procurement processes?

What are we trying to influence?

To ensure that the commissioning and procurement processes of the Council have clear guidance and policies relating to equalities whether that is during consultations, awarding of contracts and that contractors are required to abide by the Council's own equality policies.

Do we need any experts/ specialists to sit on the panel with us?

Steve Oakley – Head of Quality and Efficiency
Colin Monckton – Head of Commissioning and Insight
Imogeen Denton – Equality and Community Relations Lead
Cecile Wright – Chair of the Equality and Fairness Commission (EFC)
http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/CommissioningContractingandProcurement

Who do we need to speak to?

Councillor Alex Norris - Portfolio Holder for Adults, Commissioning and Health Councillor Nick McDonald – Portfolio Holder for Jobs and Growth (procurement lead) Other members of the EFC

Proposed Contributors:

Cecile Wright (Chair of the EFC) or nominated representatives from the EFC to contribute to the scrutiny review panel Imogeen Denton – Equality and Diversity, Nottingham City Council

What information do we need/background paper?

- (1) What do we mean by a) commissioning process b) procurement process?
- (2) What do we mean by 'equality principles'? Does the Council have an agreed definition? Is there a nationally agreed definition? What does it mean in commissioning/procurement terms?
- (3) What are legal requirements / good practice for having equalities principles embedded in local authority commissioning and procurement?
- (4) How are equalities principles currently built into the Council's commissioning and procurement processes?

- (5) What scope is there for improvement?
- (6) How consultation and engagement with stakeholders is conducted to ensure opportunities and services are accessible to all.

What methods will we use to get the information needed?

Desktop research by Scrutiny Officer
Briefing paper and presentation by appropriate Council colleagues
Feedback from EFC as to concerns raised including more factual detail

What are the timescales for the review?

2 meetings as needed:

Panel meeting 1 to receive evidence (council colleagues/contributors) opportunity

to challenge/confirm perceptions and information provided

Panel meeting 2 confirm the findings of the review which must be based on

evidence, draw conclusions and draft recommendations for the

report

Nottingham City Council values Diversity!

Nottingham City Council believes and recognises that the diversity of Nottingham's communities is a huge asset that should be valued and seen as one of the City's great strengths.

The people who live, work, study in or visit Nottingham, have diverse backgrounds and circumstances. They are of all ages, races and ethnic backgrounds, disabled and non-disabled, are from faith and non faith backgrounds, and the City has a vibrant lesbian, gay, bi-sexual and transgender community. People live in a range of different types of household and have access to widely differing levels of income. As a City there are extremes of wealth with some areas of Nottingham being amongst the most deprived in the country.

Our diverse community is a great asset to our City. However, some communities experience disadvantage and discrimination that has a negative effect on their quality of life. Although this can affect all communities, most often it affects women, black and minority ethnic communities, disabled people, young and old people, lesbians, gay men, bisexual and transgender people.

As one of the largest employers in Nottingham and one of the main providers of local services, the City Council is committed to providing equality of opportunity and tackling discrimination, harassment and intimidation, and disadvantage. We are also committed to achieving the highest standards in service delivery, decision-making and employment practice. This policy reinforces our responsibility under the Equality Act 2010 to ensure equality of opportunity for all sections of the community and our workforce, and in particular our general and specific duties:

General Duty

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act.
- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

Specific Duty

- To publish information to demonstrate how they are complying with the Public Sector Equality Duty, and
- To prepare and publish equality objectives.

The equality objectives contained within the Corporate Plan and associated action plans, outline the specific steps Nottingham City Council will take to achieve these duties. These can be found on the Council's website

http://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=5036 or contact a member of the team.

Page 9

To protect the City's diversity, Nottingham City Council **will not** tolerate less favourable treatment of *anyone* on the grounds of their:

- Gender
- Age
- Race
- Colour
- Nationality
- Ethnic or national origin
- Disability
- Marital or civil partnership status
- Sexual orientation
- Gender reassignment
- Responsibility for dependents
- Trade union or political activities
- Religious or other beliefs
- or any other reason which cannot be shown to be justified

This policy is endorsed by the Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council.

In making equalities a part of every day working practice, we will:

Use our influence and purchasing power to help make equality a reality for all and to tackle the prejudice, discrimination and disadvantage which occurs in the City. This will include ensuring that the organisations we buy services from or provide funding to operate similar policies and practices on equality and diversity.

Seek to ensure that our workforce reflects the diverse communities we serve and that every colleague is treated fairly during the whole of their working life. This will be achieved through regular monitoring of our workforce and equal pay audits.

Take action to eradicate discrimination and inequality when delivering services, when employing others to deliver services on our behalf and when providing funding to others to provide services to the people of Nottingham. Everyone who uses our services will be treated in a professional manner, with courtesy, respect and dignity.

Adopt legal, national and local guidelines, relevant legislation, codes of practice and City Council policies or strategies that seek to ensure equality of opportunity and promote good relations between all the communities of Nottingham.

Evaluate and monitor the impact of our policies, services and functions on communities through regular consultation, and make changes to them where they impact unfairly or adversely on any group/s. These changes will be outlined in our Equality & Diversity reports which will be made publicly available.

Make equalities the responsibility of everyone, including every elected Councillor, every colleague and every representative of the City Council.

Carry out Equality Impact Assessments before making important decisions to consider the potential impact on citizens, communities and colleagues – including early consultation with colleague and community representatives wherever possible.

Set challenging equality objectives and targets in relation to employment, service delivery and the carrying out of our functions.

Share information and experience of good practice on equality through links with other public, private, voluntary and community organisations in the City.

Use the "Social Model of Disability" as the basis for our work to promote equality of opportunity for and to tackle discrimination against disabled people.

Continue to work closely with Trade Unions and colleague networks and community representatives to develop our Equality and Diversity Policy and action plans.

For Nottingham citizens we will:

Make our buildings and services accessible to all the citizens of Nottingham.

Make our public information accessible to all the citizens of Nottingham, providing alternative formats, interpretation and sign language services where necessary.

Work with our partners and stakeholders to stamp out all forms of bullying, harassment and intimidation.

Work with Nottingham's diverse communities to tackle disadvantage and discrimination through consultation and involvement.

Consider the needs of all communities in the methods we use for communicating with citizens, colleagues and residents.

Use our standing in the City to help shape public opinion to promote equality within Nottingham.

For our Colleagues we will:

Raise awareness and train our colleagues to carry out this policy.

Take positive action to ensure that people from groups currently underrepresented in our workforce are encouraged to obtain employment with us.

Promote a good work-life balance and opportunities to work flexibly.

Make reasonable adjustments to support disabled colleagues.

Allow paid leave of absence, with managerial permission, to attend the authorised Colleague Support Networks for Disabled, Black & Minority Ethnic (BME) and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBT) colleagues.

Take action to eradicate discrimination and inequality amongst colleagues and work to ensure that everyone is treated in a professional manner, with courtesy, respect and dignity.

What to do if something goes wrong

Citizens of Nottingham

If you think we are not providing a service in line with this policy or you think you have been treated unfairly in any way, you can complain to the City Council. Our Complaints Procedure explains how you can do this. You can obtain a copy of this procedure by telephoning 0115 87 64943, or emailing equalityanddiversityteam@nottinghamcity.gov.uk. You can make a complaint by telephoning or by writing to the Department or part of the City Council you are unhappy with.

City Council colleagues

If you are concerned about any equality issues relating to your employment you can speak to your line manager, or to your Department's Human Resources (Performance and Change) Team.

If you feel embarrassed, humiliated, offended, distressed, alarmed, apprehensive or fearful because of someone else's behaviour towards you, you have the right to make a complaint and ask for the behaviour to be stopped. The City Council's Harassment and Discrimination Policy and Procedure explains how to do this and how you can get support from the Mediation Service. You can find out more information by speaking to your Department's Human Resources representative or from the City Council's Intranet.

You also have the right to take up issues through the Grievance Procedure. You can obtain information about this procedure from your line manager, your Department's Human Resources representative, or the City Council's Intranet.

Alternatively, you can contact the BUPA Employee and Assistance Programme for free counselling support and practical advice on **0800 269616**.

If you are in a Trade Union, you can contact them for advice and support. Please refer to your local Trade Union representative for more details.

Let us know what you think!

This policy will be monitored for effectiveness through regular reviews, however If you wish to make any comments or suggestions on the work we are aiming to do please contact the Equality & Diversity Team on

Tel: 0115 87 64952

Email: equalityanddiversityteam@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

If you require this information in an alternative language, large font, Braille, audio tape or text only version please call the Equality & Diversity Team on 87 64952

www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Buying better outcomes

Mainstreaming equality considerations in procurement

A guide for public authorities in England

Contents

Introduction	3
Who should read this guide?	3
What are equality outcomes and community benefits?	4
The legal framework	6
The Equality Act	6
The wider legislative framework	8
Meeting public sector equality duty requirements through the procurement cycle	9
1.Equality and procurement strategy	9
2.Identifying need and building a business case	11
3. Equality requirements in contract specifications	13
4. Terms and conditions and equality clauses	19
5. Advertising and selection of tenderers	19
6. Assessing contractor technical capacity and ability	20
7. The invitation to tender (ITT)	21
8. Developing an award process	22
9. Implementing the contract conditions and monitoring it	23
10. Termination, exit and learning lessons	24
Contacts	26

Introduction

Public authorities spend £236 billion each year on buying goods, works or services from other organisations across every sector. This purchasing power can be used by public authorities as a way to advance equality and, where appropriate, achieve wider social benefits, such as creating training or employment opportunities.

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) sets out anti-discrimination law and the requirements of the public sector equality duty (PSED). Compliance with the PSED should help public authorities ensure that the goods and services they procure are fit for purpose thus ensuring they meet the needs of their users. As such it should also be seen as an effective tool for improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness and therefore value for money.

This guidance explains how public authorities may approach the task of ensuring that they comply with their PSED obligations at different stages of the procurement cycle and takes you through equality issues that you may need to consider at each stage.

A resources section on our website¹ includes links to useful reference materials such as complementary guidance products, case studies and training modules.

Who should read this guide?

This guide is aimed at commissioners, procurement officers, contract managers and people involved in the procurement process. It assumes technical knowledge of procurement. It is not a definitive guide to the law and if you are unclear about what the law allows or requires you should seek legal advice. This guide is for England only.

Readers will wish to be aware that the Government is currently undertaking a review of the PSED, which should report later this year. The review was set up in the light of concerns expressed in some quarters about perceived bureaucratic burdens. This, and other guidance from the Commission, aims to identify for public

_

¹ http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-procurement

authorities how they can comply with the law, and deliver fair and effective services, without unnecessary bureaucracy.

What are equality outcomes and community benefits?

When buying goods and services public authorities and private contractors need to make sure that the goods and services meet the needs of different users.

Equality outcomes are practical improvements for people who may experience discrimination and disadvantage, and delivering them may help meet a public authority's corporate objectives. For example an equality outcome might be an increase in the proportion of disabled people living in homes suitable for their disability, which would satisfy a corporate objective to support disabled people to live in the local community.

Incorporating equality outcomes, where relevant and in a proportionate way, should be a normal part of designing and specifying a service. It is important that they are considered upfront before the procurement process starts. This will help identify the specific needs of different potential users and allow them to be appropriately reflected in the process. Properly done, this should help you buy better outcomes and therefore achieve value for money, while helping to meet your corporate objectives.

Equality outcomes often overlap with community benefits and are part of the social and economic elements of sustainable procurement.

Equality issues which overlap with 'community benefits' include:

- community cohesion objectives, for example developing strong positive relationships between people of different backgrounds
- targeted recruitment and training, for example to support disabled people into the workplace, or to ensure that women have an equal opportunity to reach senior positions
- equal opportunities training for an existing workforce
- supply-chain initiatives, for example to facilitate the capacity of suppliers to meet equality criteria

- community consultation
- promotion and support of social enterprises or minority businesses
- resources for any number of community initiatives, for example lunchtime social events for elderly people who are at risk of isolation.

Community benefits are a way for a public authority to deliver its broader strategic objectives, in addition to the core purpose of a contract and value for money.

For example: A North East local authority had a corporate equality objective to challenge negative attitudes to disability, and promote integration and community cohesion through practical actions. This equality objective was considered relevant when the authority decided to renovate its children's play areas. It consulted with parents and found that parents of disabled children said the area lacked play areas suitable for both disabled and non-disabled children.

The successful procurement exercise means that parents of disabled children now have more play areas to choose from. The feedback from children and parents has been extremely positive and there has been a noted increase in usage. Interaction through play is helping to break down barriers and challenge understanding and perceptions of disability by parents of non-disabled children encouraging social inclusion.

An additional outcome was an improved service from their suppliers. The local authority initially found that its approved suppliers list did not provide this type of equipment and had to source it from overseas. This prompted their existing suppliers to broaden their range, making it easier for other authorities to procure these products.

The legal framework

The Equality Act

The Equality Act (2010) (the Act) sets out anti-discrimination law in the UK. It identifies 'protected characteristics', age, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity and marriage and civil partnerships.²

The Act sets out the public sector equality duty (PSED) which applies to most public authorities in England,³ such as local authorities, police, schools, universities and central government departments. It also applies to organisations carrying out a public function.⁴ It therefore includes private companies or voluntary sector organisations that have been contracted to carry out public functions on behalf of a public authority. The duty only applies in respect of the public function being carried out and not the wider business of the contracted body.

The PSED requires public authorities to have due regard to the need to:

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act.
- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not, and
- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

The Act also explains that advancing equality of opportunity involves having due regard to the need to:

² Equality Act 201 Public Sector Equality Duty: What do I need to know? A quick start guide for public sector organisations Equality and Human Rights Commission 30.6. 2011, available at: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/equalities/equality-act-publications/equality-act-guidance/equality-duty?view=Binary

³ For the list of authorities subject to specific equality duties and the duties themselves see: The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) Regulations 2011, available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/2260/contents/made and https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/2260/contents/made and Schedule 19 of the Equality Act 2010.

⁴ For the definition of whether an organisation is providing a service or exercising a public function see Code of Practice on Services, Public Functions and Associations, available at:http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/EqualityAct/servicescode.pdf

- Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics.
- Take steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people, and
- Encourage people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

To have 'due regard' means that when making decisions (and in its other day-to-day activities) an organisation subject to the duty must consciously consider the need to: eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations. This includes when they plan and make decisions about their procurement.

How much regard is due will depend on the circumstances and in particular on the relevance of the aims of the general duty to the decision or function in question. For example, decisions a local authority makes about the provision of social care for older people compared to those regarding the purchase of stationery, will have greater potential impact and more relevance to the aims of the duty, and so it will need a higher degree of regard.

The requirement to have due regard needs to be fulfilled before and at the time a particular policy is under consideration as well as at the time a decision is taken. It is good practice for organisations covered by the duty to keep an accurate record showing that they had actually considered the duty. Proper record keeping encourages transparency and if records are not kept it will make it more difficult to persuade a court that the duty has been met. This is the case for public authorities covered by the general duty as well as for organisations that are exercising public functions.

The PSED is non-delegable. This means that the duty will always remain the responsibility of the organisation subject to the duty. In practice, this may mean that public authorities need to ask their suppliers to take certain steps (such as monitoring service users), in order to enable the public authority to meet their continuing legal obligation to comply with the PSED.

The wider legislative framework

The wider EU legislative framework supports achieving equality outcomes through procurement. The European Procurement Directive 2004/18/EU and the subsequent UK Public Contract Regulations 2006, provides that social issues may be taken into consideration in different ways at different stages in the procurement process and these social issues may include equality issues⁵. In addition to the specific requirements of the relevant Directive and UK Regulations, the EU law principles of equal treatment, transparency, proportionality, non-discrimination on grounds of nationality, and free movement of goods and services also apply to all public sector contracts.

These general principles are primarily intended in this context at ensuring that your actions are transparent and do not unfairly obstruct the ability of economic operators (i.e. economic contractors, suppliers and service providers) within the EU. Provided that your actions do not unfairly hinder the ability to compete of economic operators, these general principles are unlikely to prevent the social issues being taken into account in the ways permitted by the Directive and the UK Regulations.

Under Article 19 of the European Procurement Directive (Reg 7 of the UK Public Contract Regulations), you can reserve some contracts in some circumstances for supported factories and organisations (where more than 50 per cent of the workers are disabled persons). If in doubt about a particular situation seek legal advice.

New domestic legislation also supports delivering equality outcomes through procurement. The <u>Public Services (Social Value) Act</u> (2012), places an obligation on public authorities actively to consider how a service being procured might improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of the relevant area; and how a public authority might secure that improvement through procurement.⁶

⁵ For further information see Buying Social: A guide to taking account of social considerations in public procurement EU 2010, available at: http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docld=6457&langId=en

⁶ See cabinet office policy note on the Act, available at:http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Public Services Social Value Act 2012 PPN.pdf

Meeting public sector equality duty requirements through the procurement cycle

The public sector equality duty (PSED) is a continuing duty, and you should consider potential equality considerations at the different stages of the procurement cycle. This section takes you through the process and highlights the potential equality issues you may need to consider at each stage. Additional reference material and further reading are listed in the resources section on our web site.

Relevance and proportionality are the key guiding principles. Where it is clear that a product or service is likely to have little or no relevance in terms of equality, you may not need to take action beyond some standard clauses in the terms and conditions.

1. Equality and procurement strategy

It is advisable that your procurement strategy explains how it supports the aims of the general equality duty as well as your organisation's corporate vision and objectives.

You should review your procurement policies and procedures to ensure they comply with the Equality Act. Some things to consider are:

- Corporate equality objectives and policies on economic development: These may include, for example, reducing unemployment for groups not in employment, helping to develop the capacity of SMEs and voluntary sector organisations to compete for contracts, or reducing negative attitudes experienced by people sharing a particular protected characteristic.
- The corporate approach to procurement: You should ensure that your procurement processes include consideration of equality issues, and clarify areas of responsibility.
- Buying with other partners: These arrangements need to be checked to ensure you meet your PSED obligations. In particular check whether the use of particular frameworks or the introduction of category management do not have any unintended negative equality consequences.

For example: Three public authorities adopted a joint approach to meeting the general equality duty, by producing documents including a statement for partners, contractors and service providers, which sets out the requirements on them under the PSED when they deliver a public function.

- Increasing supplier diversity: This may be part of a procurement strategy, as it has the potential to widen the pool of bidders and result in more creative and cost effective proposals. To broaden your supplier base you may:
- Meet with potential new contractors and identify barriers to entry for smaller businesses by finding out why they don't respond to advertisements or invitations to tender.
- Consider using e-tendering systems, supplier portals and accreditation systems to simplify the tender process, reduce the bureaucratic burden for all suppliers and make it easier to tender for all suppliers, and so improve smaller organisations' ability to bid.
- Introduce small lots or identify opportunities where smaller organisations already working with particular communities can provide specialist support to larger contractors where appropriate.
- Encourage, support and give sufficient time for small suppliers to join or form consortia so they can bid for larger contracts, meet prequalifications requirements, and become more competitive by reducing their overheads.
- Improve your communication strategies by advertising in a wider range of media likely to be read by smaller businesses or voluntary sector organisations; advertising on government's Contract Finder portal; holding 'meet the buyer' and 'innovation' events to attract specialist providers who may come from protected groups or have different ways of meeting your requirements.
- Include in the core requirements of the contract specification, a requirement for the prime contractor to support small, specialist or voluntary sector organisations.
- Use voluntary agreements after awarding a contract to encourage prime contractors to create sub-contracting opportunities.

 Improve accessibility of your procurement documentation and guides by writing in plain English or providing alternative formats and languages for specialist contracts need if appropriate.

2. Identifying need and building a business case

To build a business case you need to identify legitimate and reasonable need. This information should help you to establish how relevant equality is to the procurement and whether it needs to be a core requirement. By demonstrating that it is a cost effective way of achieving outcomes, and of meeting your organisation's operational and equality objectives, you can demonstrate a strong argument for the inclusion of equality requirements.

To identify need you should begin by reviewing the current provision. There is no prescribed methodology for doing this, but a systematic assessment of the impact of equality should assist in determining the degree of relevance.

To help you demonstrate due regard to the aims of the PSED, it is good practice to ask the following questions:

- Do current arrangements adversely affect some people with shared protected characteristics or unlawfully discriminate against them?
- Do differences in service take up or satisfaction levels indicate that it is not being provided fairly or that there is unlawful discrimination in the way it is delivered? If there have been cuts or changes to the service or related resources (such as the voluntary sector), has this affected some people disproportionately, relative to others, as a consequence of their protected characteristics?
- Are there population changes that might indicate new needs?
- Are there alternative ways of meeting your requirements that could advance equality?

Engaging with service users and networks of people with shared protected characteristics can help you understand the issues. The current service provider may monitor use of a service by different groups, as might officers managing the contract. Trade unions and employees may provide information about equality issues in employment.

For example: Three local authorities agreed to set up a shared call centre in a remote new site. Consultation with employees and unions identified that the long commute was difficult for carers and disabled employees. As part of the contract specification, potential suppliers had to demonstrate willingness to allow flexible and home working to mitigate this.

For example: A London borough was procuring a fleet of buses to transport older people and children with special needs. It arranged open days to allow children from special needs schools, their carers and older people from care homes to try out the different models before the specification was finalised. The council had intended to buy one model, but as a result of the consultation decided to buy two different models for the fleet.

Other issues you may consider when building your business case are:

- Strategic fit: Does the inclusion of equality measures add value to and help meet your authority's vision and objectives including its equality objectives?
- Cost and benefits: What are the costs of meeting equality measures and are they justified in terms of the expected immediate or wider social benefits? Is your approach affordable, proportionate and value for money?
- Options: What procurement and contract options are available to you and what effect might they have on equality?
- Risk: You should consider any legal, financial, reputational or even political risks that may be incurred by yourself and potential suppliers.
 Non-compliance with the PSED may lead to legal challenge and affect your authority's reputation as well as incur financial costs.

Considering all of the elements of the business case will give you a clearer understanding of the impact that inclusion of equalities may have. It will help you present a stronger case for inclusion in both value for money terms and by delivering wider benefits to the community than may have originally been thought.

3. Equality requirements in contract specifications

3.1 Assessing if equality is a core requirement

The relevance of equality to the subject matter of the contract will help determine whether it forms part of the specification. Where equality considerations are central to the service they are normally regarded as a core requirement. For example, the provision of transport for disabled people, domiciliary care for the elderly or childcare facilities are services where equality issues will form part of the core requirements. Equality considerations may also be relevant where they are not the main requirement of the contract. For example, a contract for providing a web-based service may also specify that the service caters for people who do not speak English as a first language, or those who are visually impaired. You may wish to deal with relevant issues that are not the main requirement through the contract conditions. The inclusion of such conditions need to relate to the performance of the contract and be proportionate and where relevant, adhere to legal requirements, such as for those for website design. Your analysis on the relative weighting of these equality issues should guide your thinking on this.

3.2 Adding value to the procurement

There may be additional equality or social outcomes that generate added value, but are not absolutely necessary for fulfilment of the contract. These might include training and employment opportunities, regeneration objectives, improved labour standards or a more diverse supplier base. (The resources section on our web site contains further reading including case studies, guidance and the use of community benefit clauses.)

Public authorities seeking to gain added value from the contract or to contribute to the wider objectives of the authority can do so in three ways:

- making them part of the specification
- · including them as part of the terms and conditions, or
- by using voluntary measures.

Case law recognises that the criteria for the evaluation of contracts need not be purely economic but can, in appropriate cases, include social and environmental criteria. It may be possible to include the provision of clearly identifiable and measurable social benefits as part of the contract specification and develop appropriate evaluation criteria accordingly. Examples may include the targeted recruitment and training benefits, such as providing a specified number of apprenticeships, or providing work for the long-term unemployed. It may be appropriate to include identifiable and measurable social or community benefits in particular contracts. The criteria would need to meet all the other principles of EU law, such as transparency and non-discrimination, as discussed elsewhere in this document. Key principles to bear in mind are:

- 1) Criteria need to be reasonable, proportionate and transparent. All evaluation criteria need to be properly disclosed to tenderers to ensure that the use being made of economic, social and environmental requirements is understood.
- 2) Criteria should be objective, not involving subjective value judgements by the contracting authority, and should be clear, verifiable, targeted and have measurable outputs.
- 3) Criteria should be proportionate and related to the goods and services being purchased.
- 4) Criteria should not involve any discrimination. The contracting authority is required to maintain a level playing field for non-local contractors who may otherwise be disadvantaged in the tendering process. This is important at the tendering stage to ensure compliance with the EU Procurement Directives and the general principles of EU law.

For example: The Olympics construction programme included the extension of the East London line. The procurement of the project set out specific contractual requirements around Equality, Diversity and Inclusion, as part of delivering on the broader regeneration and legacy goals, in the tender documentation. There was a need for the initial bid to meet these requirements through the inclusion of well developed proposals. The winning bid set out how they would meet

these and included proposals around increasing access to employment and training.

3.3 Writing the specification

Once you have determined your need and decided when equality is a core requirement, you can use the contract specification to set out explicitly what you require the contractor to do. In a time when demand for public services is increasing significantly, procurers should see this stage as an opportunity to re-think services outcomes and identify better targeted, innovative and radical service delivery solutions. There is potentially wide scope in drafting the specifications, providing they are legal, non-discriminatory and underpinned by the business case. Consider at this point how you will evaluate these aspects and score them according to their importance within the overall evaluation. You should be able to verify, monitor, and evaluate whatever you specify. This means the requirements on promoting equality, like the rest of the specification, should be objective, and stated in terms that are clear and explicit.

Specifications can be written as outcome, output or input specifications but in reality often include a combination of these approaches.

a) Specifying outcomes (functional specifications)

You can ask a contractor to meet specific equality outcomes, but leave it to the contractor to set out in their tender how they propose to achieve these outcomes. Specifying outcomes can allow tenderers to develop more innovative ways of achieving outcomes. You can assess the approaches they propose at the tender evaluation stage. Outcomes are also measurable. For example, the specification could require year-on-year improvements, such as increased take up of services by people with certain protected characteristics who were previously under-represented amongst users.

For example: In a specification for mental health day care provision, tenderers are invited to demonstrate how they will meet a number of outcomes which demonstrate a wider community benefit from the contract. The outcomes include:

- improved mental health for service users
- reduced stigma and discrimination against service users, and
- increased access to skills and employment for older people, carers, parents returning to work, and people with mental or physical health conditions.

This approach led to the successful provider offering an innovative model which involved 'time banking' and user involvement in service provision. This improved mental health outcomes and led to quantifiable benefits to the public authority. (The resources section on our web site contains further details on this case study.)

For example: A health organisation finds that single men, and particularly gay men, over the age of 50 are less likely to consult a GP than women. The ITT for a community health communications contract specifies improved outcomes in male GP attendance and asks tenderers how they will communicate with this group. The successful contractor proposed identifying local pubs used by single older gay men and distributing beer mats and toilet signs with health information and advice about seeing a GP. This led to improved attendance at GP surgeries by this group.

b) Output specifications (performance specifications)

Output specifications dictate what outputs are needed to meet the described requirement. If you know that some of the communities you serve are particularly disadvantaged because of distinct service needs related to their protected characteristic, you can write certain steps into the contract specification. These could include providing services to meet special educational, training, or welfare needs of particular equality groups.

c) Specifying inputs (technical specifications)

The contractor can prescribe specific input or technical requirements in the goods, works or services. The EU Directive and UK Regulations, for example, require public authorities, in drafting any technical specifications, to take into account accessibility criteria for people with disabilities, for example the suitability of website design for all users.⁷

3.4 Specifying positive action and reasonable adjustments

The Equality Act and the PSED recognise that improving equality for people who share a protected characteristic may sometimes require that they be treated more favourably than others who do not share that characteristic. The Act allows employers or service contractors to take positive action⁸ measures to improve equality for people who share a protected characteristic. Positive action means that services can be provided to encourage people from disadvantaged groups or those who are under-represented to access services. For example, a community health service might be provided for gypsies and travellers to close a significant life expectancy gap relative to other groups.

Positive action also covers reasonable adjustments for disabled people.

Positive action also covers reasonable adjustments for disabled people The Act allows employers and organisations carrying out public functions to treat disabled people more favourably to meet any needs arising from their disability. It also includes a duty to make anticipatory reasonable adjustments. This requires the taking of positive steps to ensure that disabled people can access services, public functions and have access to and can progress in employment. For example, this may mean making changes to the built environment or providing auxiliary aids to make a service accessible.

3.5 Specifying workforce requirements

⁷ For example the authority might be expected to specify full compliance with relevant access standards such as BSI 830015 in relation to building construction or BS PAS 7816 in relation to website design.

⁸ Positive action is not the same as positive discrimination which is unlawful. Positive discrimination occurs when one person or a group of people with particular protected characteristics is treated more favourably than another person, or group with different characteristics, would be treated in the same situation. For more information see: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/your-rights/religion-and-belief/when-does-the-law-allow-religious-discrimination/positive-action/

⁹For further information on reasonable adjustments see: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/service-providers-guidance/the-duty-to-make-reasonable-adjustments-to-remove-barriers-for-disabled-people/

¹⁰ Equality Act 2010: What do I need to know? Disability Quick Start Guide, available at: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/equalities/equality-act-publications/equality-act-quidance/disability?view=Binary

¹¹For more detailed information on reasonable adjustments see the Commission's Codes of Practice on Employment and on Services, Public Functions and Associations, available at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice/

Where the services include provision of services to particular vulnerable or equality groups, the specification (and evaluation criteria) may legitimately include provisions governing matters such as training and management of those employees who will be delivering the services. These can be used to evaluate the bidder and award the contract. The contract conditions, at a later stage in the process, can also include conditions governing the training and recruitment of the workers who will deliver the services forming part of the contract. The conditions, however, must relate to the performance of that contract and cannot be used to regulate the workforce generally.

Where not directly relevant to the performance of the contract voluntary agreements, however, can be an effective mechanism for improving contractor performance in this area. Successful initiatives include codes of conduct on staff behaviour. For example the Considerate Contractors Scheme is widely supported by many private sector businesses who also see it as complementing their corporate social responsibility values.

Likewise, the Government's voluntary *Think, Act, Report*¹² initiative on gender equality is widely supported by the UK's leading companies. By signing up to this, companies demonstrate their commitment to promoting equality of opportunity for women at work, and to being more transparent about this.

3.6 Monitoring obligations in the specification

If you specify the achievement of certain performance targets, you may want to make explicit how you expect the contractor to monitor their performance against these targets. For example, you may consider specifying equality monitoring of people who use the service but also consultation with, or surveys of, those who use and those who don't use the service. You may also make it a requirement for the contractor to make adjustments in light of the monitoring results. You should also specify that the contractor should have procedures for dealing promptly and sensitively with complaints about discrimination, and should adjust the service if complaints highlight significant deficiencies.

¹² See http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/equalities/women/women-work/gender-equality-reporting/sign-up/

4. Terms and conditions and equality clauses

Introducing special clauses under the terms and conditions of the contract can help you meet your legal obligations under the Equality Act, and help ensure your suppliers meet their legal obligations. (The resources section on our web site includes examples of standard anti-discrimination and employment clauses.)

Equality clauses may be introduced under these arrangements relating to the performance of the contract, but they must:

- be compatible with EU rules (as determined by the Public Contract Regulations 2006 and any other related legislative requirements)
- be relevant and related to the performance of the contract
- not be a technical specification in disguise or used in the evaluation process
- not discriminate (directly or indirectly) against any potential tenderer
- be able to demonstrate that value for money is maintained, and that whole life costs are taken into account
- be proportionate and quantifiable
- be referred to in the contract notice or tender documentation, and
- be clear and unambiguous, and understood by tenderers and contractors.

5. Advertising and selection of tenderers

Preparing the contract notice

The tender process itself will normally commence with some form of advertising. For major procurements this will be through an OJEU notice in the first instance. After the contract notice is published you may wish to advertise the contract in relevant publications or linked websites. Use Contracts Finder and provide details to local infrastructure organisations for small businesses and the voluntary sector.

The contract notice must include project requirements to ensure there is a clear understanding of the business goals. It should set out the equality requirements clearly so that any potential supplier can understand them.

The contract notice should state whether the organisation awarded the contract will be carrying out public functions, and make clear that it will be subject to the PSED.

6. Assessing contractor technical capacity and ability

The next step in the selection process may include use of a prequalification questionnaire (PQQ) or some other supplier selection process such as a supplier portal, which is the appropriate point to assess a supplier's status with regard to equality requirements.

The PQQ is a good opportunity to find out about a potential supplier's track record on equality, both in terms of their technical competence or to determine any grounds of exclusion as permitted by relevant procurement law. ¹³ Many standard PQQs and several accreditation systems ask about:

- equality performance¹⁴
- equal employment opportunities 15
- supporting evidence of compliance with the Equality Act, such as copies of policies and procedures.¹⁶

The PQQ also asks about a potential supplier's technical ability to perform the contract. This usually includes the supplier's professional and technical ability, as reflected in its staff qualifications or training, ¹⁷ and its track record in performing similar contracts.

20

¹³ Procurement Policy Note 01/12 (dated 10 February 2012), mandates the use of standard core questions and the elimination of PQQs for contracts under the EU thresholds for all central government departments, including their non-departmental public authorities and arms length authorities. However local authority purchasing organisations are not required to do this.

¹⁴ See, for example, the West Midlands Common Standard used by a number of local and other public authorities https://www.wmf-commonstandardforequalities.gov.uk and the GLA group standard, Diversity Works for London: https://www.diversityworksforlondon.com/

¹⁵ Most standard PQQs are based on the Employment Codes of Practice: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/EqualityAct/employercode.pdf

¹⁶There is no legal requirement to have a written equal opportunities policy, However, where relevant, it may be permissible to ask an economic operator how it meets its equalities obligations if it does not have a written equal opportunities policy, see: http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/sites/default/files/resources/ppn-update-april-2011.pdf

¹⁷ Where qualifications are specified you must allow for equivalent qualifications.

Where equality is relevant, it is appropriate to ask for evidence of compliance with the Act (or equivalent legislation in other European countries), or evidence of liability in discrimination claims.

You may exclude a prospective tenderer who has been found in breach of national laws about equal treatment of workers, ¹⁸ unless they can show they are taking steps to remedy the issue. Discretionary exclusion is permitted under the EU Directive and you should consider the nature and gravity of the breach, when it took place, and the degree of relevance to the subject of the contract itself.

Where tender applicants are deemed unacceptable, they should be informed of the reason why they have not been selected to enable them to understand why and how they can improve their equalities performance and be better placed to win public sector contracts.

7. The invitation to tender (ITT)

The ITT sets out your requirements and expectations based on your business case. It offers you the opportunity to explain how equality issues may be relevant to the aims, delivery and outcomes of the tender and to specify what information you require from tenderers to demonstrate how they meet this.

Equality requirements in an ITT should be objective, and stated in clear, explicit terms. You should be able to verify, monitor, and evaluate whatever you specify. The equality requirements in an ITT may relate to the:

- statutory obligations of employers
- desired outcomes from the contract
- technical or workforce requirements
- desired wider community benefits.

You can inform tenderers that they are expected to comply with relevant discrimination law if awarded the contract. ¹⁹ While it is not a mandatory

¹⁸ Recital 43 of the EU Directive.

¹⁹ If the contract is performed outside the UK, the contractor would not be subject to UK legislation. However, if the contract is performed in the EU, it will be covered by similar legislation which you should specify.

requirement under the Directive or UK Regulations to provide this information it is permitted to do so. A public authority is likely to be seen to be failing to meet its duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment and promote equality if it failed to inform prospective contractors of the anti-discrimination legislation under which its proposed contract would be carried out. You should inform tenderers in the ITT where they can find information about obligations under the Equality Act. Tenderers are required to indicate in their tender submission that they have taken these obligations into account when preparing their tender.

The ITT can ask how the tenderer intends to meet equality obligations or other social requirements through method statements. In higher risk areas such as social care, asking 'open' questions should enable a much more meaningful assessment of the contractor's approach than a 'closed' tick box type approach. Responses could include equality training for managers and staff, or staff in certain roles to have particular language skills to meet the needs of service users more effectively.

You can ask prospective tenderers to ask similar questions to those in the PQQ to assess the capability of sub-contractors to meet equality requirements specified in the contract.

8. Developing an award process

Your ITT should give tenderers clear information about how you will evaluate their submissions, including their proposals for meeting the social or equality requirements.²⁰ You must specify the award criteria and the relative weighting for each aspect. The award criteria may include equality-related criteria, or combine equality factors with quality, technical merit and cost-effectiveness criteria, so that you have the full information to assess the most economically advantageous tender.

Method statements can be an effective way of assessing equality performance. They provide the tenderer with the opportunity to demonstrate their understanding of equality criteria, and how they propose to deliver this. The weighting, however, needs to be agreed

_

²⁰ See EU Directive, in Recital 46 cited in footnote 17.

early on in the process, and non-core elements to the method statement should not be scored.

9. Implementing the contract conditions and monitoring it

The success of your investment in equality depends on the relationship you establish with the successful supplier, and how you monitor, manage and enforce the contract. Equality considerations are typically weighted towards the start of the procurement process with less attention given at the monitoring and management stage. However, the obligation to give 'due regard' to the PSED continues through the whole of the procurement cycle, and so should be included in the monitoring and management stage.

A good working relationship requires clear communication about your expectations and agreement about what is required from the contract. This means you need to make sure the provider understands the equality requirements, and how you will monitor them.

If equality is part of the core purpose of the contract, you should include monitoring requirements in the specification. The contract should set out what should be measured, how information should be analysed, and how frequently and in what form it should be provided to you.

The contractor should appreciate that monitoring is not an end in itself, but a means of identifying where changes or improvement in performance is required.

For example: A joint procurement unit consisting of several small local authorities uses a simple tool that measures cost and level of contact with service users, to decide how much monitoring to do on equalities aspects. Where contact was high and value was high, for example for outsourced recycling collections, close monitoring was required. Where there is high contact but low value such as leisure instructors, some monitoring is required. For others such as stationery orders, with little or no contact with service users, little or no monitoring is required.

It may not be cost-effective or prudent from a risk perspective for the provider to monitor delivery or outcomes on certain contracts due to their

low value and/or low contact with the public. In this case the purchasing body may wish to draw on other sources of intelligence, such as consulting with service users or trade unions, reviewing complaints, undertaking mystery shopping or site visits.²¹

The monitoring information helps the contract manager ensure successful delivery of a contract. But the information can also help a public authority meets its duty to be transparent in reporting how it uses its resources, and to what effect.

As part of your continual improvement agenda, you may want to improve the equality performance of suppliers in a way that goes beyond their contractual obligations. You should discuss this at the start of the contract to get their voluntary agreement, and agree how you will work together.

10. Termination, exit and learning lessons

Sometime things go wrong. If during the delivery of the contract your monitoring indicates breaches of the equality requirements, you should discuss this with the supplier and agree steps to rectify this. A serious breach may mean you need to use sanctions provided for in your contract, but it is good practice to work with the provider to achieve improvements before taking such a step.

You should try to understand the reasons for the contract not working as was planned, particularly if it is a long-term contract, to avoid making similar mistakes again. If a contract is coming to an end, transferring to another supplier, or terminating early, you should:

- ensure staffing matters are properly managed
- apply any lessons on achieving corporate equality objectives to future contracts
- improve future specifications, potentially through clearer equality criteria

-

Whether you carry out monitoring or you include monitoring requirements within the contract and offer advice to the contractor, you can find guidance on gathering information in the Equality Duty guidance at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/uploaded_files/EqualityAct/PSED/information_guidance_rev.doc

- assess whether there was sufficient scope for real equality benefits to be achieved
- review the options for using different contract terms and conditions
- evaluate performance management
- ask your contractors if there was a genuine partnership approach.

Contacts

www.equalityhumanrights.com

The Commission's publications are available to download on our website: www.equalityhumanrights.com.

If you would like to discuss the option of accessing a publication in an alternative format or language please contact engagementdesk@equalityhumanrights.com.

Equality Advisory and Support Service (EASS)
The Equality Advisory Support Service has replaced the
Equality and Human Rights Commission Helpline. It gives free
advice, information and guidance to individuals on equality,
discrimination and human rights issues.

Telephone: 080, ', \$\$'\$\$, & Textphone: 080, ', \$\$'\$\$, (

Opening hours:

09:00 to 20:00 Monday to Friday

10:00 to 14:00 Saturday

Website: www.equalityadvisoryservice.com

Post: FREEPOST Equality Advisory Support Service FPN4431

